University of South Dakota USD RED

**Honors Thesis** 

Theses, Dissertations, and Student Projects

Spring 5-4-2024

# ANALYZING HEAT GENERATED FROM ELECTRO-OSMOTIC FLOW UTILIZING COMPUTATIONAL FLUID DYNAMICS

Jordan Elizabeth Grothe University of South Dakota

Follow this and additional works at: https://red.library.usd.edu/honors-thesis

Part of the Biomedical Engineering and Bioengineering Commons, and the Mechanical Engineering Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Grothe, Jordan Elizabeth, "ANALYZING HEAT GENERATED FROM ELECTRO-OSMOTIC FLOW UTILIZING COMPUTATIONAL FLUID DYNAMICS" (2024). *Honors Thesis*. 321. https://red.library.usd.edu/honors-thesis/321

This Honors Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, and Student Projects at USD RED. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Thesis by an authorized administrator of USD RED. For more information, please contact dloftus@usd.edu.

## ANALYZING HEAT GENERATED FROM ELECTRO-OSMOTIC FLOW UTILIZING

### COMPUTATIONAL FLUID DYNAMICS

by

Jordan Grothe

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the

University Honors Program

Department of Mathematical Sciences

The University of South Dakota

MAY 2024

The members of the Honors Thesis Committee appointed

to examine the thesis of JORDAN GROTHE

find it satisfactory and recommend that it be accepted.

For Compation

Dr. Daniel Engebretson

Vice President for Research & Sponsored Programs

Director of the Committee

Dr. Jacob Kerby

Professor of Biology, Chair

on tem )on (

Dr. Dan Van Peursem

Professor of Mathematical Sciences

Dr. Stephen Gent

Professor of Mechanical Engineering, South Dakota State University

#### ABSTRACT

#### Analyzing Heat Generated from Electro-Osmotic Flow Utilizing Computational Fluid Dynamics

Jordan Grothe

Director: Daniel Engebretson, Ph.D

Without extensive vascularization, the transfer of fluid and nutrients through human tissue is limited to diffusion and weak interstitial flow. Electroosmosis, or the flow of fluid driven by an electrical field, has become a promising solution. Scientists have begun applying electricity to human tissue to promote stronger interstitial flow; however, optimization of this process has proven to be a challenge due to ohmic heating. Cells function within a small range of temperatures and exposure to voltages exceeding the threshold will cause cells to degrade and die prematurely. This research seeks to better understand and quantify the range of voltage where the heat generated leads to cell degradation and death. Utilizing a computational fluid dynamics software, Sim Center Star-CCM+, a representative model of tissue mimicking a clinical application of electricity to the knee was created and used to test a variety of voltages while monitoring the temperature and time; this data was then compared to prior-established values depicting when cells undergo irreversible damage. Research has already shown that electrical stimulation can drastically increase the rate at which a wound heals; understanding the thresholds for when damage occurs will allow clinicians and scientists to optimize this process while avoiding cell damage.

#### Key Words: Electro-osmosis, electricity, wound healing, tissue engineering

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgementsvi
Introduction1
Research Goals and Hypothesis4
Review of Relevant Literature5
Methods10
Model Development
Assumptions
Limitations
Mathematical Approach
Results
Discussion16
Conclusions19
Future Work
References

## LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Figure 1: Image of Model Geometry11		
Table I: Results of 5 second exposure		
Electric potentials tested on the 10 mm model and the temperature after 5 seconds.		
Table II: Results of 30 second exposure    15		
Electric potentials tested on the 10 mm model and the temperature after 30 seconds.		
Figure 2: Electric Field vs Temperature at 5 seconds Graph17		
A graph of the temperature caused by the application of a given electric field after		
5 seconds.		
Figure 3: Electric Field vs Temperature at 30 seconds Graph18		
A graph of the temperature caused by the application of a given electric field after		
30 seconds.		

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. 1950448. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation.

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### Introduction

For years, clinicians and tissue engineers alike have struggled with mass transfer in the absence of vascularization. Without pathways for interstitial fluid to flow through, the transfer of nutrients and the removal of wastes can be particularly difficult. Electro-osmotic flow, that is, the flow of fluid driven by the application of an electric field, could provide a solution to this issue because of its ability to generate mass flow without force or moving parts. This has led clinicians and scientists to pursue researching the effects of externally applying electric fields to drive interstitial flow, yet many questions remain, such as how to optimize the flow without damaging the cells. Common clinical applications utilizing electrically driven flow involve applying a cathode and anode directly to the skin surrounding a wound. Electro-osmotic flow could also be utilized in tissue engineering to help generate larger, more complex tissues. Because electricity generates heat, more research is needed to be done to better understand what range of electrical fields can be safely applied for different durations of time without damaging the surrounding tissue.

When electricity is applied to tissues, electro-osmotic flow is generated, and many layers of surrounding cells develop. An electric double layer (EDL) is made when the cells interact with the interstitial fluid [1]. Furthermore, in the presence of an electric field, cations will migrate towards the cathode, and anions will migrate toward the anode. Because the EDL generally has more cations than anions, and the cations will migrate towards the cathode, a flow of fluid will be caused from the cathode to the anode [1]. This is the process by which electro-osmotic flow occurs.

Because of the nature of electricity, heating accompanies electro-osmosis. Whenever an electric field is generated, ohmic heating, also referred to as Joule heating, will occur. While this heat does not cause a significant change in temperature of the tissue at lower voltages, it can cause a larger number of cells to increase in temperature at higher voltages. This is problematic because human cells can only survive in variable temperatures for a specific amount of time. Just as somebody in a hot desert will get dehydrated and die faster than somebody in cooler weather, human cells are only able to live in high-temperatures for a limited amount of time. This work is concerned with the ohmic heating that occurs when electro-osmotic flow is externally generated. Furthermore, this work utilizes prior-established values to establish limits on the temperature.

Computational fluid dynamics allows researchers to study the effects of electricity on tissue without risking damage to real human tissue. This research primarily utilizes Star-CCM+, a commercially available computational fluid dynamics software. Using this, a model of tissue can be made to allow researchers to perform a variety of tests to see how real tissue would likely react. The software allows values to be assigned to the model that are consistent with that of tissue, such as density, electrical conductivity, and thermal conductivity. In this work, the tissue model was exposed to a variety of voltages, and the temperature of the tissue was monitored.

Electrical stimulation has the potential to be a viable solution in speeding up the healing of wounds. It has already been utilized in some clinical applications and shows special

promise when looking at diabetic wounds. Because of electrical stimulations unique ability to generate interstitial flow without involving pressure, it allows the nutrients to be brought to growing cells and wastes to be removed from the wound bed quicker. This leads to quicker recovery times, and a reduced risk of infection. Some products promoting wound healing by enhancing electro-osmotic flow are already in clinical use. These products have shown an increase in the rate of wound healing as well as a decrease in visits to a clinician [2]. Furthermore, dressings have been developed to be electrically conductive and, with external electrical stimulation, have succeeded in increasing the rate of wound healing [2]. Electro-osmotic flow has a promising future in medicine, so research in this area is important.

Electro-osmosis can also be useful in tissue engineering applications. One of the main problems tissue engineers face is the inability to generate flow through tissue that lacks vascularization. Vessels can be difficult to engineer due to their microscopic size. Without a way to bring nutrients to the growing cells and remove wastes, engineers are limited in how large and complex they can make tissues. Electrical stimulation could help alleviate this issue because it does not rely on vessel sizes and allows for interstitial flow between the cells. A better understanding of electro-osmosis could lead to the ability to develop larger, more complex tissues.

#### CHAPTER TWO

#### **Research Goals and Hypothesis**

This research seeks to quantify the upper-level of the range where the application of an electric field leads to cell death due to the joule-heating that occurs. It is currently believed that the range for safe electrical field application is somewhere between 10 mV/mm and 1000 mV/mm, but little is understood about precise range where the cells will degrade due to the ohmic heating that occurs. This research hopes to find a more precise electric field that is the upper threshold for when the electricity causes thermal damage to the cells and surrounding tissue.

We hypothesize that a threshold for the electric field will be near 1,000 mV/mm before the temperature is too high for five seconds and leads to cell degradation and death. We hypothesize this because it is the currently accepted upper threshold for the safe range of electrical field application. While other things can cause cell death, ohmic heating would be a natural limitation when applying an electrical field. We anticipate only finding the range for five second applications because most clinical settings do not apply the electric field for longer than that duration of time. Furthermore, with the longer time span, the electric field will have to be lower because as time goes on, more heat would be generated and trapped within the tissue.

#### CHAPTER THREE

#### **Review of Relevant Literature**

Without vascularization, the transfer of interstitial fluid is severely limited to diffusion across pores. Both tissue engineering and wound regeneration face limitations from this because all cells require nutrients to survive. However, manipulation of electro-osmotic flow would allow scientists and clinicians to overcome some of these challenges, allowing for the creation of more robust tissues and quicker recovery rates from epidermal wounds. While electroosmosis has been studied for years, the mechanisms behind it and the clinical applications remains relatively unknown [3]. External applications of electric fields to drive electroosmosis are already being used in clinical settings, but their usage is limited by the lack of full understanding in the process and its side-effects.

Electroosmosis is the process by which a flow of fluid is driven in the presence of an electrical field. The fluid is generally ionized and moves around charged or polar surfaces [1]. Multiple theories seek to explain this process, but much is still unknown. In the body, electroosmosis can allow nutrients to be delivered to cells, wastes to be removed from cells, and smaller cells to be driven to areas in the body where they are needed.

During electroosmosis, multiple layers are developed outside of the electrode. Two layers, referred to as the Stern layer and the diffusive layer, form what is called the electric double

layer (EDL) at the solid-liquid interface [4]. These layers are developed when a charged surface (such as the electrode) interacts with a liquid containing ions (such as interstitial fluid) [1]. The Stern layer is generated by the high concentration of counterions on the charged surface of the electrode [5]. The ions in this layer are tightly bound to the surface of the cell and are immobile; in contrast, ions in the diffuse layer are mobile. The diffuse layer is the region where the net charge reaches zero because the coion concentration evens out of the counterion concentration [5]. When subject to electrical flow, ions inside the diffuse layer of the EDL move, causing the surrounding interstitial fluid to also move. The electrical field will cause cations to migrate towards the cathode and anions to migrate to the anode. Because the EDL contains more cations than anions, the fluid typically flows in the direction of the cathode from the anode [1]. The movement of the ions in the EDL also causes the surrounding fluid to move with it [5, 6]. The surrounding interstitial fluid will often contain wastes expelled from the cell and be depleted of the nutrients that the cell requires to live. By cycling out this fluid, electro-osmosis can bring in a nutrient-rich flow while removing the wastes. Because this flow is driven by ions, mass transfer is possible without the application of force or moving parts.

In many cases, the interstitial flow surrounding the cells will not affect the cell because of the surrounding plasma membrane. In some cases, the electric field will also cause galvanotaxis. Galvanotaxis is defined as the migration of a cell in a particular direction and is influenced by the electroosmotic, electrophoretic, and drag forces [3]. Galvanotaxis has been induced by electric fields in the range of .1 to 10 V/cm [7]. Studies have found that the substrate the cell is grown on also can affect its growth; neurites grown on positive substrates grew towards the anode, and neurites grown on negative substances grew

towards the cathode [8]. Galvanotaxis has been observed in epidermal keratinocytes, dermal fibroblasts, and other immune cells that play a role in the wound healing process; these cells will migrate toward the cathodal end of the electrical field [2]. This provides yet another way for electro-osmosis to aide in the regeneration of wounds outside of strictly delivering nutrients and removing wastes.

One of the leading theories as to why some cells will migrate towards the poles is due to the macromolecules on the surface membrane of the cell. In the presence of an electric field, negatively charged macromolecules will migrate towards the cathode side of the cell if the macromolecule's zeta potential (the potential difference in charge between the surface of the macromolecule and the surrounding interstitial fluid) is less negative than that of the cell surface. The converse is also true; if the zeta potential of the cell surface is less negative than that of the macromolecule, the macromolecules will accumulate on the anodal side [9]. The lower threshold for application of an electric field where cells begin to migrate is 10 mV/mm, when the electrical potential difference of 10-300 uV is between the cell walls [10]. This causes the electromigration of the surface macromolecules without activating the plasma membrane voltage sensors; furthermore, the larger the extracellular domain of the cell, the greater the effect of the electro-osmotic flow [10].

Because electro-osmotic flow provides a solution to delivering nutrients in areas with low vascularization, it has already been used for wound healing and will likely be used for tissue engineering in the future. It is thought that electric fields can increase the rate at which a wound heals because they increase the movement of neutrophils and macrophages, cells that are essential to wound healing [11]. The skin naturally carries a charge, but when damaged, a current is made driving nutrients and wound regeneration cells from outside of

the wound to the center of it [11]. When damaged, the transepidermal potential (TEP) is reduced; however, once healed, the potential difference returns to its original value, where it is negative on the surface of the skin [2]. Furthermore, cell proliferation, blood perfusion, and tissue matrix production have been seen to increase with electrical stimulation [2]. A variety of products for electrical stimulation are already in clinical use, such as WoundEL. Studies following this particular product, which involves low-frequency pulses, have found improved rates of wound healing with use [2]. These preliminary products show that electro-osmotic flow has the potential to be an important medicinal approach to healing more extensive and deeper wounds that would typically require months because of their poor vascularization.

Tissue engineering has also found electro-osmosis to be potentially useful because one of the main challenges it currently faces is a difficulty in generating flow throughout the developing tissues, causing an inability to supply essential nutrients to the cells; weak electric fields have been able to generate electro-osmotic flow through small pathways, reducing cell mortality [12].

One of the main challenges that electro-osmotic flow devices face is that the heat generated from the application of an electric field can lead to cell degradation and death in extreme cases. In the application of DC electric fields, tissue damage can occur from electrolysis or heating. As stated previously, applying an electric field causes an increase in temperature from Joule (ohmic) heating. Because human cells are dependent on being in a specific range of temperatures for functioning, this heating can cause issues. Human cells typically live thrive in temperatures from 37-39°C [13]. Cell degradation and death are dependent on both the temperature and the duration of exposure. Studies have shown that damage

does not occur to cells below 44°C; once exceeded, damage nearly doubles for each additional degree [14]. In 50°C, cells will survive for 4 minutes; for 55°C, cells will only survive for 30 seconds [14]. At 60°C, cells will survive for 5 seconds. One potential solution to this would be pulsing the electric field, allowing for relaxation and cooling in between flows. Another option would be lowering the voltage of the electric field to allow for longer, continuous flow with less ohmic heating.

#### CHAPTER FOUR

#### Methods

#### Model Development

A prior-made model of human tissue was utilized to simulate a clinical application of electric stimulation therapy. Two concentric cylinders, as seen in Figure 1, were created in Solidworks then imported to Sim Center Star-CCM+, a commercially available Multiphysics solver. Next, a mesh was made separately for each cylinder. Both meshes had the same qualities, including polyhedral mesher, prism layer mesher, surface remesher, and automatic surface repair. The meshers were then adjusted to increase the accuracy of the model. For the outside cylinder, the base size was set to .5 mm with 4 prism layers; for the inside cylinder, the base size was set to 8.0E-5 m with two prism layers. Next, the surface area was broken down into three parts: two faces and one wall. In the inner cylinder, the face on the negative z-axis was assigned 'anode,' and the face on the positive z-axis was assigned 'cathode'. These faces were given equal, opposite electric potentials. For example, if the anode was assigned an electric potential of 25V, the cathode would be assigned -25V.



#### Figure 1: Image of Model Geometry

#### Assumptions

The model was assumed to be a uniform tissue. The model was intended to mimic a knee and was assigned values consistent with that of cartilaginous tissue. Two continua were created, identical to each-other in all aspects except for electrical conductivity. The continua were defined as three-dimensional liquids with a constant density; segregated, laminar, and implicit unsteady flow was assumed. The liquid was also subject to ohmic (Joule) heating. Electrical conductivity was set to 1.3126 S/m for the inner cylinder and 0 for the outer cylinder. For the purpose of this research, the outer cylinder did not need to conduct electricity because the monitored values were inside the center of the inner cylinder. Thermal conductivity was set to 1.3 W/m-k. The initial static temperature was set to 310.15 K, consistent with average body temperature.

#### Limitations

The model is limited in the scope of prediction it can do. Because the tissue is modeled to mimic a knee, it would be inappropriate to utilize this model's values to predict what would occur in the electrical application to other parts of the body, notably, those more abundant in nervous or muscular tissue because of differences in electrical conductivity. Furthermore, the model is not divided into further parts to distinguish the variety of tissues that are found within the knee, so a 'worst-case' scenario is generated, as the values were chosen on what would occur if the knee was all one type of tissue. The model also inaccurately shows 'hot-spots' where electrodes would be applied due to how the software calculates the electrical field.

#### Mathematical Approach

To determine the electrical field range, different voltages were tested then converted into the corresponding electric field value. The first tested voltages were based off of the current range for safe electrical field applications. The lower-end voltage was first established; next, an upper-end voltage was established. After running the model, the temperature of the center point in the inner cylinder was recorded into an Excel spreadsheet. A binary search method was primarily utilized to narrow down the range until a range of ~1 mV/mm was obtained. The upper-end voltage was adjusted to the previously tested voltage if the temperature exceeded the safe range. If the temperature stayed within the allowable range, the lower-end voltage was adjusted. The next voltage tested was in the middle of this new upper and lower ends. In instances where the desired temperature was clearly closer to one side of the range, a voltage skewed more towards that end would be tested.

The raw data was transferred from electric potentials to electric field to make it more universally applicable. Electric field was found through a series of calculations. First, the electric potential was multiplied by two because it was applied as an electric potential on both sides of the model. On the cathode side, it was applied as a positive potential; on the anode side, it was applied as a negative potential. Then, the resulting number was divided by 50 mm, or the width of the model. Finally, to convert the number from volts per millimeter to millivolts per millimeter, the resultant was multiplied by 1,000. Excel was utilized to speed up this process.

#### CHAPTER FIVE

#### Results

Our research found the different ranges of voltages that could be applied before the model's temperature was too high for an extended period of time, causing the 'cells' to die. For the first part of the research, the temperature needed to stay below 333 K for 5 seconds. For the 10 mm model at 5 seconds, an electric potential of 93.2305 V on the cathode side reached the temperature of 332.923 K, and an electric potential of 93.25 V reached a temperature of 333.005 K. Limitations in the model did not allow the range to be more precise. Table I shows the tested values and their resulting temperatures after running the model for 5 seconds.

## Table I: Results of 5 second exposure. Electric potentials tested on the 10 mm model and

Electric Potential (V)	Temperature (K)
25	310.32
56	311.715
76	313.043
87	313.941
92	314.386
92.625	314.449
92.9375	314.455
93.09375	314.444
93.171875	314.479
93.2109	314.471
93.2305	314.48
93.2403	314.472
93.25	314.486
94.5	314.631
97	314.845
137	319.516
250	327.99

the temperature after 5 seconds.

The second part required keeping the temperature lower than 328 K for 30 seconds. For the 10 mm model at 30 seconds, an electric potential on the cathode of 33.5 V increased the temperature to 327.979 K, and an electric potential of 33.525 V reached a temperature of 328.005 K. Like the earlier trial, the software did not allow the range to be narrowed down further. Table II shows the tested voltages and their resulting temperatures after running the model for thirty seconds.

 Table II: Results of 30 second exposure. Electric potentials tested on the 10 mm model

 and the temperature after 30 seconds.

Electric Potential (V)	Temperature (K)
25	320.048
31.5	325.916
33.25	327.715
33.5	327.979
33.525	328.005
33.55	328.032
33.6	328.085
33.75	328.249
34	328.519
37.5	332.495
76	401.625

#### CHAPTER SIX

#### Discussion

The values that the model needed to stay below were 60 degrees Celsius in the case of the 5 second trial and 55 degrees Celsius in the case of the 30 second trial. Looking through the resulting data revealed the electric field that could be applied before the temperature of the tissue rose above the viable range. For the 5 second trial, the electric field was the range from 3729.22 mV/mm to 3730 mV/mm. For the 30 second trial, the electric field range was 1340 mV/mm to 1341 mV/mm. The lower-end of both of these ranges were decided to be the threshold for damage because they remained below the required temperature.

An electric field of 1340 mV/mm can be applied to tissue for 30 seconds before the ohmic heating causes the temperature to rise above 55 degrees Celsius. An electric field of 3729.22 mV/mm can be applied to tissue for 5 seconds before the temperature surpasses the viable range of 60 degrees Celsius.



**Figure 2:** Electric Field vs Temperature at 5 seconds Graph. A graph of the temperature caused by the application of a given electric field after 5 seconds. The horizontal line represents the threshold for cell death.



**Figure 3:** Electric Field vs Temperature at 30 seconds Graph. A graph of the temperature caused by the application of a given electric field after 30 seconds. The horizontal line represents the threshold for cell death.

#### CHAPTER SEVEN

#### Conclusions

This work found the upper-level of the range of electrical application that does not damage cells due to the generation of heat. An electric field of 1,340 mV/mm can be applied to cartilaginous tissue for 30 seconds before a temperature of 55 degrees Celsius is reached, and cell death may begin to occur from the temperature. For 5 seconds, an electric field of 3,729.22 can be applied before the temperature surpasses 60 degrees Celsius. Understanding this range is important because it provides clinicians and scientists with a guideline for when the electric field will begin to damage the cells from ohmic heating. Furthermore, this work demonstrates that other factors must be currently limiting the safe application of electric fields, as the current range for safe electric field application is thought to range from 10 mV/mm to 1,000 mV/mm.

#### CHAPTER EIGHT

#### Future Work

The next steps to better understanding electro-osmotic flow and its implications in both clinical and tissue engineering applications would involve finding what factor is currently limiting the range for safe application. This may be electrolysis, in which case, the model could be set up to monitor how much electric current has passed through the center of the model then compare that with the literature on how much electric current cells can withstand.

Another future step would be better refining the current model. This would involve breaking down the model into separate parts to create a more accurate picture of the different tissues involved in the knee. This could also potentially involve accounting for blood flow, and the dissipation of heat that occurs from that.

#### REFERENCES

- Hossan, Mohammad R., Diganta Dutta, Nazmul Islam, and Prashanta Dutta.
   2017. "Review: Electric Field Driven Pumping in Microfluidic Device."
   ELECTROPHORESIS 39 (5-6): 702–31. https://doi.org/10.1002/elps.201700375.
- Abe, Yuina, and Matsuhiko Nishizawa. 2021. "Electrical Aspects of Skin as a Pathway to Engineering Skin Devices." APL Bioengineering 5 (4): 041509. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0064529.
- Kobylkevich, Brian M., Sarkar, Anyesha, Carlberg, Brady R., Huang, Ling, Ranjit, Suman, Graham, David M., and Mark A. Messerli. "Reversing the direction of galvanotaxis with controlled increases in boundary layer viscosity." Physical Biology 15, no. 3 (March 2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1478-3975/aaad91.
- 4. Sridhar, V., and K. Ramesh. 2021. "Peristaltic Activity of Thermally Radiative Magneto-Nanofluid with Electroosmosis and Entropy Analysis." Heat Transfer 51 (2): 1668–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/htj.22369.
- Moghadam, Ali Jabari. 2013. "Thermally Developing Flow Induced by Electro-Osmosis in a Circular Micro-Channel." Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering 39 (2): 1261–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13369-013-0717-8.
- Alsharif, A. M., A. I. Abdellateef, Y. A. Elmaboud, and S. I. Abdelsalam. 2022.
   "Performance Enhancement of a DC-Operated Micropump with Electroosmosis in a Hybrid Nanofluid: Fractional Cattaneo Heat Flux Problem." Applied

Mathematics and Mechanics 43 (6): 931–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10483-022-2854-6.

- Allen, Greg M., Alex Mogilner, and Julie A. Theriot. 2013. "Electrophoresis of Cellular Membrane Components Creates the Directional Cue Guiding Keratocyte Galvanotaxis." Current Biology 23 (7): 560–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.02.047.
- Rajnicek, Ann M., Robinson, Kenneth R., and Colin D. McCaig. "The Direction of Neutrite Growth in a Weak DC Electric Field Depends on the Substratum: Contributions of Adhesivity and Net Surface Charge." Departmental Biology 203, no. 2 (November 1998): 412-423. https://doi.org/10.1006/DBIO.1998.9039.
- McLaughlin, Stuart, and Mu-Ming Poo. "The Role of Electro-Osmosis in the Electric-Field-Induced Movement of Charged Marcromolecules on the Surfaces of Cells." Biophysical Journal 34, issue 1 (1981): 85-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(81)84838-2.
- Sarkar, Anyesha, Kobylkevich, Brian M., Graham, David M., and Mark A. Messerli. "Electromigration of cell surface macromolecules in DC electric fields during cell polarization and galvanotaxis." Journal of Theoretical Biology 478, (October 2019): 58-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2019.06.015.
- Gardner, Sue E., Frantz, Rita A., and Frank L. Schmidt. "Effect of electrical stimulation on chronic wound healing: a meta-analysis." Wound Repair and Regeneration 7, no. 6 (November-December 1999): 495-503. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1524-475x.1999.00495.x.

23

- 12. Sarkar, Anyesha and Mark A. Messerli. "Electrokinetic Perfusion Through Three-Dimensional Culture Reduces Cell Mortality." Tissue Engineering & Regenerative Medicine International Society. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2021.0008.
- Balaban, Robert S. 2020. "How Hot Are Single Cells?" Journal of General Physiology 152 (8). https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.202012629.
- 14. Ong, B.B. 2005. "INJURY, FATAL and NONFATAL | Burns and Scalds." Encyclopedia of Forensic and Legal Medicine, 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-12-369399-3/00209-3.
- 15. Alfonso, A.M., Pinho, F.T., and M.A. Alves. "Electro-osmosis of viscoelastic fluids and prediction of electro-elastic flow instabilities in a cross slow using a finite-volume method." Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics 179-180, (May 2012): 55-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnnfm.2012.05.004.
- 16. Biscombe, Christian J. C. "The Discovery of Electrokinetic Phenomena: Setting the Record Straight." Angewandte Chemie (International ed. In English) 56, (November 2016): 8338-8340. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201608536.
- 17. Ehud Yariv. "Electro-osmotic flow near a surface charge discontinuity." Journal of Fluid Mechanics 521, (September 2004): 181-189. https://doi.org/10.1017/S002211200400189.
- Soderman, Olle and Bengt Jonsson. "Electro-osmosis: Velocity profiles in different geometries with both temporal and spatial resolution." The Journal of Chemical Physics 105, issue 23 (1996): 10300 – 10311. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.472958.

- 19. Yao, Shuhuai and Juan G. Santiago. "Porous glass electroosmotic pumps: theory." Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 268, issue 1 (December 2003): 133-142. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9797(03)00731-8.
- 20. Li, Ying, Yu Gu, He Wang, Zhipeng Liu, Bing Song, and Tao Yin. 2018.
  "Electric Pulses Can Influence Galvanotaxis of Dictyostelium Discoideum." BioMed Research International 2018 (August): 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/2534625.
- Wood, Bradford J., Jeffrey R. Ramkaransingh, Tito Fojo, McClellan M. Walther, and Stephen K. Libutti. 2002. "Percutaneous Tumor Ablation with Radiofrequency." Cancer 94 (2): 443–51. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.10234.